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 ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD


P.O. Box 115512


Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	OLIVER M. BAGULA, 

                                                   Employee, 

                                                     Applicant,

                                                   v. 

CONAM CONSTRUCTION CO.,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

ACE AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                    Defendants.
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	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200324722, 

AWCB Decision No.  10-0109
Filed with AWCB Fairbanks, Alaska

on June 17, 2010


The Northern Panel of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (Board) heard the employer’s claim for temporary total disability (“TTD”) benefits, penalties, interest, attorney fees, and legal costs on May 6, 2010, at Fairbanks, Alaska.  Attorney Timothy McMillan represented the employee.   Attorney Timothy McKeever represented the employer and its insurer (collectively “employer”).  The employee and his wife, Christie Bagula testified at the hearing.  Rehabilitation specialist Robert Sullivan, adjuster Patricia Mackay, rehabilitation specialist Alison White, and Benefits Inc. president Thomas Hardwick offered testimony by teleconference.  The Board held the record open to allow the parties to arrange cross-examination of several documents, and closed the record when it next met, May 20, 2010.

ISSUES

In the hearing on May 6, 2010, the employee contended he is improving following surgery, not yet medically stable, and has been actively engaged in returning to the labor market.  He requested we order additional TTD benefits, penalties, interest, attorney fees, and legal costs.  The employer contended the employee is medically stable, has voluntarily retired from the labor market in April 2009, and consequently has suffered no additional work-time loss.  It contended he is entitled to no additional TTD benefits or related benefits. 

1.
Is the employee entitled to additional TTD benefits, under AS 23.30.185?

2.
Is the employee entitled to penalties, under AS 23.30.155(e)?

3.
Is the employee entitled to interest, under AS 23.30.155(q)?

4.
Is the employee entitled to attorney fees and legal costs, under AS 23.30.145?

FINDINGS OF FACT

Based on the preponderance of the evidence
 in the record, the Board finds:

1.
The employee injured his right knee while working as a mechanic for the employer on Alaska’s North Slope on or about July 29, 2003.
  

2.
The Northern Board Panel’s November 7, 2006 decision on this matter, AWCB Decision No. 06-0297, discussed the evidence and the history of the case, in part, as follows: 

The employee began working for Peak [Oilfield Services] in 1987 as a light duty mechanic. In 1999 when running to catch a plane he injured his right knee. He sought care from Richard Long, M.D., in his hometown, Carson City, Nevada. Dr. Long suggested arthroscopic surgery. The surgery was performed on July 15, 1999 and showed "major pathology" in the medial compartment of his knee with a complex tear in the medial meniscus. The employee was off work until late November. Peak, through its insurer, paid for the surgery and time loss. Dr. Long found a 4% permanent partial impairment (PPI).

In the summer of 2001, the employee had increasing problems in his right knee and Dr. Long suggested additional surgery. That surgery was done on August 16, 2001, and showed "advanced degenerative changes." Dr. Long said the knee was approaching "bone on bone.". . . 

After the second surgery, Dr. Long discussed with the employee that he would come to need a total knee replacement as a result of the 1999 injury. . . . 

. . .  In 2002 he underwent a series of Hyalgan injections to delay the need for a total knee replacement. Another set of those injections was discussed in December 2002 and in April 2003.

On April 1, 2003 Peak lost its contract and it was assumed by Conam Construction.   The employee was hired as a light duty mechanic for Conam and he did the same general kinds of work on the same fleet of vehicles as he had at Peak. He worked a two-week on two week off schedule and began work for Conam on April 15, 2003. His last day of work for Conam was July 21, 2003 - so he worked a total of 56 days.

During the time the employee worked for Conam he did not seek medical care. He saw no doctors and there is no evidence he sought care from medical facilities on the Slope. He apparently obtained no prescriptions of any kind. The employee did not provide Conam with written notice of an injury or illness.

On August 8, 2003, the employee returned to Dr. Long and reported, according to Dr. Long, "complaints that were generally similar to those that he experienced before." X-rays showed the degenerative arthritis had progressed. Dr. Long thought that he did not have any new injury or trauma to his right knee and that there was "no intervening injury with the new employer that caused or contributed to the need for the total knee replacement surgery."

. . .  Surgery was done on October 28, 2003. Dr. Long has stated the work after April 2003 was not a cause of the surgery.

After the surgery the employee still did not notify Conam of any injury. Peak paid the employee's time loss and medical expenses. The employee has not returned to work. Dr. Long found him medically stable on April 7, 2004. 

In July of 2004 the employee requested reemployment benefits and indicated his employer at the time of the injury was Peak. On July 16, 2004 the employee filed a workers’ compensation claim against Peak. . . . 

The employee's deposition was taken on September 8, 2004. In the deposition, the employee alleged his condition worsened while employed by Conam. On March 22, 2005, Peak controverted the payment of benefits to the employee, arguing that a subsequent employer was responsible but Peak did not file a claim against Conam. 

In late March 2005 the employee filed a workers’ compensation claim against Conam with the Board. This was the first written notice of a possible claim against Conam. On May 2, 2005 a petition to join Conam to the existing claim against Peak was filed. Upon receipt of the workers’ compensation claim seeking benefits, Conam commenced payment of benefits, retroactive to the date the claim was filed, pursuant to AS 23.30.155(d).

At hearing, the employee testified he worked as a heavy equipment mechanic on the North Slope for about 20 years. He started working for Peak in 1988, and on August 14, 1999, injured his right knee in the course of his employment. He continued working despite undergoing various treatments including two arthroscopies and a series of Hyalgan injections.

The employee testified that on April 1, 2003, he was transferred to Conam where his pain symptoms increased as result of a change in work duties. He said the pain was so bad he was taking five to six Aleves at a time and was unable to sleep at night. He said he was assigned to the night shift where working on slop oil trailers caused him particular difficulties. He testified he asked his supervisors, James Best and Russell Stewart, to transfer him to the day shift where the duties were lighter. Before any action could be taken, he left for R&R at the end of July to consult with his treating physician who advised a total knee replacement. He underwent surgery on October 28, 2003 and has been unable to work since.

The employee’s wife, Christie Bagula, testified she had been working on the slope at the time he was transferred to Conam. She testified she told Stewart about the difficulties he was having at work and asked Stewart to transfer her husband to the day shift. She said she continued to work on the slope after he left, and kept the personnel at Conam informed about his medical status.

Russell Stewart also testified for the employee. He stated the employee told him he was having trouble with his knee even though he was not the kind of worker who complained a lot. He was not fully aware of scope of the problem until his wife talked to him. Shortly after his conversation with her, he met with the other supervisors about transferring the employee to the day shift. The process of arranging for a transfer ended when he heard the employee was going to undergo a knee replacement.


. . . .

Three physicians have provided opinions on the causation issue presented: Dr. Long, the employee's treating physician; Steven Schilperoort, M.D., Peak's independent medical examiner; and Stanley James, M.D., Conam's independent medical examiner.  Drs. Long and Schilperoort agree Conam's aggravation brought about the need for surgery sooner rather than later.  According to Dr. Long, although the employee was having pain, grating and grinding in his knee when he saw him on April 2, 2003 he "was getting by and was working" and thus did not need surgery at that time.  When the employee returned in August, however, his condition had worsened to the point he then needed surgery.  

Based on the employee's description of his work duties, the employee’s physician Dr. Long thought the employee’s symptoms were worsened to the point he was at “the end of his rope,” such as to need surgery. Dr. Schilperoort believes the employee's work with Conam was "a substantial factor in worsening his symptoms thereby hastening the need for a total knee replacement." Conam's physician, Dr. James, agreed that the employee’s symptoms were aggravated by his work for Conam, but disagrees that the work was a substantial factor in causing the need for surgery.
  

3.
In AWCB Decision No. 06-0297 (November 7, 2006) the Board ordered: 


ORDER
1. Conam is responsible for the employee’s total knee replacement surgery and his continuing medical and related workers’ compensation benefits under the Last Injurious Exposure Rule.

2. Conam’s petition to dismiss the employee’s claim pursuant to AS 23.30.100(a) is denied.

3. Conam shall pay the employee’s and Peak’s attorney fees and costs pursuant to AS 23.30.145 (a) and 155(d). We reserve jurisdiction to resolve disputes.

4.  
Following the November 7, 2006 decision, the employer provided a variety of benefits under the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act.
 

5.
The employee requested a monthly disbursement of $310.00 from his 401(k) retirement account with Edward Jones, beginning February 2004.
  The employee rolled over this account into another 401(k) retirement account with Edward Jones, and again requested a $310.00 monthly disbursement from the new account beginning April 2006.
 

6.
The Reemployment Benefits Administrator (“RBA”) determined the employee was eligible for reemployment benefits on November 2, 2004,
 and referred the employee to rehabilitation specialist Robert Sullivan,
 who developed reemployment rehabilitation plan to train the employee in Gunsmithing at Lassen Community College in California.
 The employee objected to “deficiencies” in the reemployment plan, raising concerns over a poor labor market and low earnings for the profession of gunsmithing, refusing to sign the plan, but agreeing to participate.
  The employer requested the RBA to review and approve the plan, and the RBA approved the plan on May 23, 2006.
  

7.
The employee withdrew funds from 401(k) retirement account with Edward Jones to purchase a variable annuity on July 7, 2008, with Lincoln Financial Group.
  

8.
In September 2008, the employee began receiving Social Security Retirement Benefits when he turned 65 years of age.
 

9.
The employee underwent multilevel cervical fusion surgery, C4-7 on October 6, 2006, and on October 19, 2006, the RBA suspended the employee’s reemployment plan, pending recovery from surgery.
  

10.
The employer filed a Controversion Notice dated June 3, 2008, denying further indemnity compensation under AS 23.30.041(k) because the employee had received those benefits for more than two years since the date of plan approval.

Nevertheless, the employee continued to participate in his reemployment plan, completing the plan and receiving a gunsmithing certificate in December 2008.

11.
The employee’s right knee gave way, and he fell, on October 16, 2008.  He returned to Dr. Long on October 20, 2008, who provided a brace and ordered an MRI, which revealed a cyst in the patella.

12.
On referral, orthopedic surgeon Michael Ries, M.D., saw the employee on April 2, 2009, at the University of Southern California, recommended revision of the employee’s right knee arthroplasty, and curettage, biopsy and bone grafting of the patellar cyst.
  On August 29, 2009, Dr. Reis informed the employer the employee could not perform the duties of gunsmith at that time, because of the instability of the knee.
  The employer accepted liability for the surgery, and Dr. Ries scheduled the surgery for November 14, 2009, at which time he performed the revision of the right knee arthroplasty, replacing the femoral and patellar components.
  Dr. Reis referred the employee to physical therapy for strengthening and recovery.
  The employee’s hearing brief asserts he continued participating in his physical therapy at the time of the hearing.

13.
The employee filed a Workers’ Compensation Claim dated September 14, 2009, asserting his knee symptoms had worsened, necessitating additional surgery, and claimed temporary total disability (“TTD”) benefits from May 31, 2008 until his surgery, penalties, interest, a finding of frivolous and unfair controversion, attorney fees, and costs.
  The employer filed a Controversion Notice and Answer disputing the claim, and asserting the employee had been medically stable and able to work from May 31, 2008 through the time of his surgery.
  The employer filed another Controversion Notice, dated November 13, 2009, denying all TTD following May 31, 2009, asserting the employee had been medically stable and had proven no disability, and had retired from the labor market.
  

14.
The employee filed an Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing,
 and the parties stipulated to a hearing on the employee’s claim to be set on May 6, 2010.
  At a prehearing conference on January 25, 2010, the employee amended his claim and the issues for hearing to: TTD benefits from April 2, 2009 and continuing, penalties, interest, attorney fees and legal costs.

15.
In the hearing, the parties stipulated concerning the substance of the testimony of several of the employee’s witnesses:


A.  Eric Schultz would testify he was a fellow gunsmithing student, and he and the employee discussed opening a gun shop together;


B.  Dave Fiedler would testify he is the gun club manager in Carson City, Nevada, and the employee approached him about opening a gun shop at the club, and they agreed they would follow-up on that idea following the employee’s certification; 


C.  Bob White would testify he owns a gun shop in Seward, Alaska, and the employee sought work with him. 


D.  Andy Faircloth would testify he is a teacher at Lassen Community College, owns a gun shop, and the employee sought work in his shop.


E.  Lee Baker would testify he runs a gun shop in Carson City, and the employee approached him about employment in 2008, but the shop is too small to take on staff;


F.  Jesse Teague would testify he was a fellow student who now works at the Sportsman’s Warehouse in Reno, and the employee sought employment opportunities through him;


G.  Rusty Wolbers would testify he is with the Carson City Gun Club, and the employee arranged practice work repairing guns there; and 


H.  Bob Dunlop would testify he is a teacher at Lassen Community College, owns a gun shop in Oregon, and the employee asked about working for him in his shop.

16.
At the hearing on May 6, 2010, the employee testified he had worked as a mechanic for 40 years before his disabling injury.  He testified he and his rehabilitation specialist were worried about the poor market for gunsmithing, but the RBA approved the plan.  He testified concerning his attempts to find work, consistent with the stipulated testimony of the employee’s witnesses, cited above. He testified he withdrew money from his retirement accounts to pay for school and the costs of daily living.  He testified he has no intention of retiring, and that he would still be working on the North Slope, if he was able.  He testified he intends to continue pursuing employment in the new field for which he has been trained.  He testified concerning the repeated incidents of his knee giving way, and his need for corrective surgery.  He testified his physician has not yet released him to work.  He testified his wife handles all paperwork and completes forms for his medical care and medical records.  He testified he is seeking for work in a small profession, and is pursuing his work opportunities by personal contacts, which he believes is the most practical and effective approach.  He testified he has not consulted with state employment services, has not searched for work online.  He testified he reads newspaper want ads.

17.
Mrs. Bagula testified she handles all written materials for the employee, and filled out the medical questionnaires for the employee.  She testified she listed the employee as “retired” on several medical forms because it was the simplest answer to questions about whether he is employed.  She testified the employee is withdrawing money from his accounts in order to meet living expenses.

18. 
Rehabilitation specialist Sullivan testified he and the employee had been concerned over the low wages and very small labor market for gunsmiths.  He testified the employee had been very motivated to complete his training plan.

19.
Adjuster MacKay testified the employee’s plan had been scheduled t be completed in December 2007, but because of a surgery and a couple of schedule modifications, it was not completed until December 2008.  Because his plan period exceeded the statutory time line, the employee’s compensation under AS 23.30.041(k) had been terminated on May 31, 2008.  She testified the employer had taken surreptitious surveillance of the employee for three days, and she noted the employer had no evidence the employee was looking for work, and so controverted time loss benefits because the employee had removed himself from the labor market.

20. 
Rehabilitation specialist White testified for the employer.  She testified she has worked as a rehabilitation specialist for 20 years, and part of her job is to help people look for work.  She testified a reasonable work search would involve filling out job applications, preparing resumes, getting a list of employer’s, networking, consulting with Job Service and the Division of Rehabilitation, and searching online.  She testified she has not met the employee, but based on her review of the records, she does not believe he made a reasonable search for employment.

21. 
Mr. Hardwick testified he works as a benefits consultant.  He testified concerning 041(k) and other retirement plans, and explained they are normally used for providing payments for retirement for the rest of life.  He testified the employee’s rollover of his account, periodic disbursement, and purchase of an annuity are all consistent with moving toward retirement.  On cross-examination, he testified many people draw their retirement income, but continue working.  He testified this is common with government employees.

22.
In the hearing, and in his brief, the employee noted Dr. Reis restricted the employee from working as a gunsmith before the surgery, and he recommended reconstructive surgery for the employee’s knee on April 2, 2009.  The employee argued this shows clear and convincing evidence the employee was medically unstable, obtaining treatment to improve his condition, and temporarily disabled from the time of Dr. Ries’ recommendation for surgery.  The employee asserted he has withdrawn money from his accounts since the beginning of his disability in 2004, not to retire, but in order to pay living expenses while disabled and attempting to return to the labor market.  He noted he had been receiving SSI disability benefits before they were converted into SSI retirement benefits in 2008, based on his age.  This conversion resulted in no change in income, and the ongoing benefits were simply needed for daily living expenses, and receipt of those benefits did not limit his ability to work in any way.  He argued he actively sought employment opportunities in gunsmithing before and after completing his training.  Gunsmithing is a small profession, and his personal contacts and word-of-mouth information is the most effective way to track work opportunities in the profession.  Citing the two Alaska Supreme Court decisions in Vetter v. AWCB,
 and the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission (“AWCAC”) decision in Strong v. Chugach Electric,
 the employee argued the preponderance of the evidence demonstrated he has not withdrawn from the labor force, is disabled, not medically stable, and is entitled to TTD benefits from April 2, 2009 continuing.  He argued he is entitled to interest on the unpaid benefits, as well as attorney fees and costs.  He argued that, because the employer’s evidence was weak, he should be awarded penalties on the unpaid TTD, as well.   

23.
In the hearing, and in its brief, the employer asserted the employee receives monthly payments from his retirement accounts and has opted to receive SSI retirement benefits, and has reported himself retired to several medical providers.  It asserted he has limited himself to searching for work in a very narrow segment of the labor market, and has made only a modest search.  It argued he has not sent out resumes, has not consulted with state employment services, has not searched for work online, has not searched newspaper want ads, and has not completed any job applications.  It argued the employee has not made reasonable efforts to return to the work force.  Citing the AWCAC decision in Strong v. Chugach Electric, and the Board decision in Tremblay v. Wright Schuchart Harbor,
 it argued the employee has retired and withdrawn himself from the labor market, and therefore has suffered no additional work-time loss, no loss of earnings, and is entitled to no TTD benefits.  In the alternative, the employer argued the employee had been determined medically stable by Dr. Long in 2004, and he would not be medically unstable and possibly entitled to TTD benefits until undergoing the knee surgery calculated to give him objective medical improvement in 2009.

24.
The employee filed an Affidavit of Attorney Fees and Costs dated April 30, 2010, itemizing work performed on the employee’s claim.
  The employee’s affidavit itemized 139.8 hours of attorney time at $350.00 per hour, totaling $48,930.00; and other legal costs totaling $4,639.00.
  In the hearing the employee filed a Supplemental Affidavit of Attorney Fees and Costs, itemizing an additional 14.6 hours of attorney time following April 30, 2010, plus an additional 10 hours for the hearing and related time, totaling $8,610.00 in additional fees, and $458.00 in additional costs.
   The total attorney fees from both affidavits ware $57,540.00, and total costs were $5,097.00.

25.
The employer filed an Opposition to Fee Application in the hearing, asserting the employee is entitled to no additional TTD benefits, and consequently entitled to no attorney fees.
  In the alternative, the employer argued the fees claimed are excessive: asserting there was no dispute until the controversion of November 13, 2009, though the employee claims fees from January 2008; it asserted the employee claimed an excessive amount when itemizing 22 hours on February 11, 2010, 13.5 hours on March 26, 2010, 8 to 8.5 hours for travel to Reno, and 18.7 hours preparing a 15 page brief.
  The employee’s attorney responded verbally to the Opposition, asserting the affidavits reflect the time he expended in the prosecution of the employee’s claims.  

PRINCIPLES OF LAW

AS 23.30.120. PRESUMPTIONS reads, in part:  "(a) In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter. . . ."  The presumption attaches if the employee makes a minimal showing of a preliminary link between the claimed treatment for disability benefit and employment.
  Also, a substantial aggravation of an otherwise unrelated condition imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury that bears a causal relation to the disability.
  If complications from the injury or treatment occur, the subsequent treatment would still be compensable, and the employer would still be liable for continuing medical benefits under subsection .095(a).
  In Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter,
 the Alaska Supreme Court held the presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.120(a) also specifically applies to claims for continuing medical benefits.   To make a prima facie case, the employee must present some evidence that (1) he has an injury and (2) an employment event or exposure could have caused it. "[I]n claims 'based on highly technical medical considerations,' medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection."
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  

Once the presumption attaches, substantial evidence must be produced showing the claimed medical treatment is not for the work-related injury.
  There are two methods of overcoming the presumption of compensability for benefits such as medical transportation:  (1) presenting affirmative evidence showing that the employee does not suffer a treatable work‑related condition; or (2) eliminating all reasonable possibilities that the claimed medical benefits are not work-related, reasonable, or necessary.
  Merely showing another cause of the disability does not, in itself, rebut the compensability of the claim against an employer.
  The same standards used to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link apply to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to overcome the presumption.
  "Since the presumption shifts only the burden of production and not the burden of persuasion, the evidence tending to rebut the presumption should be examined by itself."
  

Once the employer produces substantial rebuttal evidence, the presumption of compensability for the claimed benefits drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of the case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  "Where one has the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, he must induce a belief in the minds of the [triers of fact] that the asserted facts are probably true."
  

AS 23.30.135(a) provides, in part:


In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided in this chapter.  The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties. . . .

AS 23.30.155(h) provides, in part:


The board may upon its own initiative at any time in a case in which . . . right to compensation is controverted . . . make the investigations, cause the medical examinations to be made, or hold the hearings, and take the further action which it considers will properly protect the rights of all parties.

Under AS 23.30.135(a) and AS 23.30.155(h) the Board has the responsibility to ascertain the rights of the parties in the ongoing administering and adjudication of all claims under the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act.
  

AS 23.30.185. . . TEMPORARY TOTAL DISABILITY provides:

In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability.  Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

The Alaska Workers' Compensation Act defines "disability" as "incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment."
  The Act provides for benefits at 80% of the employee's spendable weekly wage during the continuance of disability either total or partial in character but temporary in quality."
  In Vetter v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation Board,
 the Alaska Supreme Court stated:

The concept of disability compensation rests on the premise that the primary consideration is not medical impairment as such, but rather loss of earning capacity related to that impairment.  An award for compensation must be supported by a finding that the claimant suffered a compensable disability, or more precisely, a decrease in earning capacity due to a work-connected injury or illness.

However, § 185 limits the duration of TTD benefits to the date of medical stability.  

AS 23.30.395(27) defines medical stability:  

"[M]edical stability" means the date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for addi​tional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measur​able improvement for a period of 45 days; "this presump​tion may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence . . . .

The presumption of medical stability in the statutory definition must be read in the context of the terms that "improvement. . . is not reasonably expected": To terminate the employee’s TTD benefits, the employer is required to show medical evidence to establish medical stability.  When the constitutionality
 of the medical stability provision was challenged, The Alaska Supreme Court held: 

The evidence is easily obtained by examining the treating physician.  That is, the treating physician should have no difficulty offering an opinion on whether or not further objectively measurable improvement is expected.  The 45-day provision simply signals when that proof is necessary.  The alleged difficulty in proving the nonexistence of medical stability, simply fades when viewed in light of the proof actually required. 

In the absence of any other explicitly required burden of proof to show medical stability, the Board requires the employer to show medical stability by a preponderance of the evidence, as is standard in administrative law proceedings.
  Once medical stability is established and has continued for 45 days, it is presumed to continue until overcome by clear and convincing evidence.
  

AS 23.30.155 concerning PENALTIES provides, in part:

(b) The first installment of compensation becomes due on the 14th day after the employer has knowledge of the injury or death.  On this date all compensation then due shall be paid.  Subsequent compensation shall be paid in installments, every 14 days . . . .

(d) If the employer controverts the right to compensation the employer shall file with the board and send to the employee a notice of controversion on or before the 21st day after the employer has knowledge of the alleged injury or death.

(e) If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of it.  This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under (d) of this section . . . .

The Alaska Supreme Court held in Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc.
, that even if an employer files a Notice of Controversion under AS 23.30.155(d) denying further benefits, an employer or insurer must have specific evidence for a good faith controversion:  

A controversion notice must be filed in good faith to protect an employer from imposition of a penalty.... For a controversion notice to be filed in good faith, the employer must possess sufficient evidence in support of the controversion that, if the claimant does not introduce evidence in opposition to the controversion, the Board would find that the claimant is not entitled to benefits.

Because the employer in Harp did not have substantial evidence to support its controversion, the Court found the controversion was not in good faith, and a penalty was due under AS 23.30.155(e).
 

In Bailey v. Texas Instruments Inc.,
 the Alaska Supreme Court held that the opinion of a medical witness can provide substantial evidence sufficient to allow an employer to prevail at hearing, if uncontradicted, and that such an opinion is substantial evidence
 to support a controversion in good faith.
  

AS 23.30.155(p) concerning INTEREST provides, in part:

An employer shall pay interest on compensation that is not paid when due.  Interest required under this subsection accrues at the rate specified in AS 09.30.070(a) that is in effect on the date the compensation is due.

8 AAC 45.142 INTEREST provides, in part:

If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in AS 45.45.010 for an injury that occurred before July 1, 2000, and at the rate established in AS 09.30.070(a) for an injury that occurred on or after July 1, 2000.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid.  If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation. . . .

The Courts have consistently instructed the Board to award interest for the time-value of money, as a matter of course.
  For injuries which occurred on or after July 1, 2000, AS 23.30.155(p) and the regulation at 8 AAC 45.142 require the payment of interest at a statutory rate, as provided at AS 09.30.070(a), from the date at which each installment of compensation, including medical compensation, is due.
  

AS 23.30.145. ATTORNEY FEES provides, in part:

(a) 
Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 per cent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 percent of all sums in excess of $1,000.00 of compensation. When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded. . . .

 (b)
If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of his claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for his costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee. The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.

Under AS 23.30.260, the employee’s attorney may receive fees in respect to the claim only with Board approval.  

The Alaska Supreme Court in Wise Mechanical Contractors v. Bignell
 held attorney fee awards should be reasonable and fully compensatory, considering the contingency nature of representing injured workers, to insure adequate representation.  The Court in Bignell required the consideration of a "contingency factor" in awarding fees to employee's attorneys in workers' compensation cases, recognizing these attorneys only receive fee awards when they prevail on the merits of the claim.
  The Board was instructed to consider the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the resistance of the employer, as well as the benefits resulting from the services obtained, when determining reasonable attorney fees for the successful prosecution of a claim.
    

ANALYSIS

I.
TTD BENEFITS
The employee claims TTD benefits from the date Dr. Ries recommended revision surgery for his knee, April 2, 2009, and continuing.  The employer contends the employee has retired, and withdrawn from the labor market.

In Vetter v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation Board,
 the Alaska Supreme Court held disability compensation, such as TTD benefits, arises from loss of earning capacity related to work injury, not medical impairment as such; and an employee who has withdrawn from the labor market for reasons other than the injury (such as retirement) have no lost earnings related to the injury.

In the instant case the employee and his wife testified they have with drawn money from retirement accounts for living expenses during the employee’s disability.  The record shows the employee started these withdrawals well before he even began his reemployment training.  Rehabilitation specialist Sullivan testified the employee was highly motivated to complete his reemployment plan, and the record reflects the employee persisted in completion of his reemployment plan for approximately another six months after the employer terminated 041(k) compensation.  The employee’s testimony, as well as the parties’ stipulations concerning the testimony of a number of the employee’s witnesses shows the employee was pursuing work opportunities through networking, person contacts, and inquiries.  Whether or not the Board members would have approached the search for work in the same way, given the small numbers of practitioners in the profession and the employee’s limited facility with printed materials, the Board cannot find the employee’s approach was not in good faith.
 The Board finds the preponderance of the evidence indicates the employee has reasonably pursued work as a gunsmith, and has not removed himself from the labor market.

As noted above, once an employee is medically stable, the continuing presumption of medical stability in the statutory definition must be read in the context of the terms that "improvement. . . is not reasonably expected": To overcome this presumption, the employee must provide clear and convincing medical evidence to establish a reasonable expectation of improvement from medical treatment.

The employee’s treating physician, Dr. Long found him medically stable and uncle to return to work on April 7, 2004.  In reliance on this determination, the RBA determined the employee was eligible for reemployment benefits on November 2, 2004, and the employee received PPI benefits and .041(k) benefits during his reemployment plan.  The Board finds the preponderance of the evidence in the record indicates the employee was medically stable at the time of Dr. Long’s determination, and there is no clear and convincing evidence to overcome the presumption of medical stability until 2009.

Dr. Ries recommended revision of the employee’s right knee arthroplasty, and curettage, biopsy and bone grafting of the patellar cyst on April 2, 2009.  On August 29, 2009, Dr. Reis informed the employer the employee could not perform the duties of gunsmith at that time, because of the instability of the knee.  The Board notes the employee’s knee had a history of instability, and the record is not clear that the instability of the knee which Dr. Ries identified as disabling the employee from gunsmithing was substantially different from the employee’s long history of knee instability, and it cannot find clear and convincing evidence of objective change before the employee’s November 14, 2009 surgery.  Based on the preponderance of the evidence in the record, the Board finds the November 14, 2009 knee revision surgery was medical treatment reasonably expected to objectively improve the employee’s work-related condition, providing clear and convincing evidence the employee was no longer medically stable.  The Board finds the preponderance of the evidence shows the employee is disabled from work pending recovery from the surgery.
 

II.
PENALTIES


The employee claims penalties for the unpaid benefits, as provided in AS 23.30.155(e).  Nevertheless, the record reflects that the employer filed a Notice of Controversion, under AS 23.30.155(d), denying further benefits.  The Alaska Supreme Court held in Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc., that an employer or insurer must have specific evidence for a good faith controversion.
  The Court in Bailey v. Texas Instruments Inc., additionally held the opinion of a medical witness can provide substantial evidence sufficient to allow an employer to prevail at hearing, if uncontradicted, and that such an opinion is substantial evidence to support a controversion in good faith.
    

In the instant case, we find that the employer has resisted the employee’s claim for continuing TTD benefits by two Controversion Notices, based in part on the report of Dr. Long, and the employer’s legal interpretation of medical stability.  Accordingly, the Board finds these controversions were supported by substantial evidence, and the employer’s rationale is an adequately reasonable interpretation of the law, which if uncontradicted and viewed in isolation, would support a good faith controversion.
  Accordingly, the Court’s rationale in Harp does not void the effect of the controversions.  

III.
INTEREST
The employee’s work injury occurred after July 1, 2000, and AS 23.30.155(p) and the regulation at 8 AAC 45.142 require the payment of interest at a statutory rate, as provided at AS 09.30.070(a), from the date at which each installment of compensation is due.  Accordingly, interest is due to the employee in accord with AS 23.30.155(p), on all unpaid benefits awarded by this decision, from the dates on which those benefits were due. 
  

IV.
ATTORNEY FEES AND LEGAL COSTS 

Under AS 23.30.260 the employee’s attorney may receive fees in respect to the claim only with Board approval.  In this case, the Board finds the payment of the benefits claimed by the employee, was controverted and resisted by the action of the employer.
  The employee seeks an award of attorney's fee and legal costs under AS 23.30.145.  The Board has awarded the employee TTD benefits and interest.  Consequently, fees and costs are to be awarded for prosecution of this controverted claim.
  

The Alaska Supreme Court in Bignell
 held that attorney fee awards should be reasonable and fully compensatory, considering the contingency nature of representing injured workers, to insure adequate representation.  As the Court directed the Board considered the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the resistance of the employer, as well as the benefits resulting from the services obtained, when determining reasonable attorney fees for successful prosecution of claims.
    

In light of these factors, the Board has examined the record of this case. The employee filed affidavits claiming 164.4 hours of attorney time at $350.00 per hour, and other legal costs totaling $5,097.00.  The claimed hourly rate of $350.00 is within the range for experienced employees’ counsel awarded in other cases, based on expertise and years of experience.
   

The employer questioned certain hours expended, but the employee’s counsel represented the itemized hours are accurate.  The Board notes the employee’s counsel has many years’ experience before the Board, and in the Boards’ experience has always been responsible, competent, and reliable.  The Board finds the attorney’s explanation credible.  The employer also questions the employee billing for hours before the employee filed the controversion of  November 13, 2009.  However, the  record is clear the employee’s attorney has been actively protecting the employee’s rights under the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act throughout the employee’s reemployment process. 

Although the employee did not prevail on all of the potential benefits, the Board awarded TTD benefits and interest, the itemization of time does not reveal time not relevant to securing the benefits which actually were awarded.  The employee’s continuing disability benefits had been totally cut off.  The Board finds the affidavit reflects the time expended developing the case was essentially identical, whether or not the employee would have prevailed on all benefits claimed.  The Board finds this issue was essentially one of continuing compensability of the employee’s indemnity claim; the claim was tenaciously litigated; the employee prevailed; and the employee is being awarded significant benefits.  Having considered the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the resistance of the employer, and the benefits resulting to the employee from the services obtained, the Board finds the total claimed attorney fees and legal costs are reasonable for the successful prosecution of this claim.
  

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1.
The preponderance of the evidence in the record indicates the employee has reasonably pursued work as a gunsmith and has not removed himself from the labor market; indicates the November 14, 2009 knee revision surgery was medical treatment reasonably expected to objectively improve the employee’s work-related condition, providing clear and convincing evidence the employee was no longer medically stable; and indicates the employee is disabled from work pending recovery from the surgery.  The Board concludes the employee is entitled to TTD benefits, under AS 23.30.185, from November 14, 2009, and continuing until the employee recovers from the surgery.

2.
 the employer timely controverted the disputed benefits in this matter, in accord with AS 23.30.155(d).  No penalties under AS 23.30.155(e) are due on unpaid benefits awarded by this decision.

3.
The employee is entitled to interest, under AS 23.30.155(p) and 8 AAC 45.142, on all unpaid benefits awarded by this decision, from the dates on which those benefits were due.

4.
 The employee is entitled to $57,540.00 in fees for her attorney, and other legal costs totaling $5,097.00, under AS 23.30.145(b). 

ORDER

1.
The employer shall provide the employee TTD benefits under AS 23.30.185, from November 14, 2009, through the present and continuing, as discussed in this decision.    

2.
The employer shall pay interest under AS 23.30.155(p) and 8 AAC 45.142, on all late-paid benefits awarded in this decision, from the date each installment of benefits was due.  

3.
The employer shall pay the employee $57,540.00 in itemized attorney fees and legal costs totaling $5,097.00, under AS 23.30.145(b).

Dated at Fairbanks, Alaska on June 17, 2010.
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William Walters,  Designated Chairman






/s/__________________________________                






Damian J. Thomas, Member






/s/__________________________________                





Debra Norum, Member

If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission.  If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.

APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of OLIVER M. BAGULA employee / applicant; v. CONAM CONSTRUCTION CO., employer; ACE AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY, insurer / defendants; Case Nos. 200324722, 199912374; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Fairbanks, Alaska, on June 17, 2010.
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Maureen I. Johnson, Admin Clerk II
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